The Follow-up Automatically vs. As-Needed Comparison (FAAN-C) Trial Protocol Number 1.00

The Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute

Protocol Version 1.01 Version Date: June 4, 2024 Printing Date: June 12, 2024 Copyright © 2022. University of Utah School of Medicine on behalf of the Principal Investigator, Eric Coon, M.D., M.S. All rights reserved.

This protocol is Protocol Number 1.00, and has been authored by Eric Coon, M.D., M.S., for implementation with the investigators. This study is supported by IHS-2021C1-22388 awarded to (PI:Eric Coon, M.D., M.S.) from the The Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute.

Protocol 1.00 (Coon) Page 3 of 44

PROTOCOL TITLE:

The Follow-up Automatically vs. As-Needed Comparison (FAAN-C) Trial

Short Title: FAAN-C Protocol Number: 1.00

Lead Investigator and Author: Eric Coon, M.D., M.S. Seattle Children's Research Institute

> Protocol Version: 1.01 Version Date: June 4, 2024

I confirm that I have read this protocol, I understand it, and I will conduct the study according to the protocol. I will also work consistently with the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki and will adhere to the Ethical and Regulatory Considerations as stated. I confirm that if I or any of my staff are members of the Institutional Review Board, we will abstain from voting on this protocol, its future renewals, and its future amendments.

Principal Investigator Name:	
Principal Investigator Signature: _	
Date:	

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK.			

Protocol 1.00 (Coon)

Page 4 of 44

Contents

Co	onten	ts	5
Li	st of '	Γables	7
1	Stud	ly Summary	8
2	Bac	kground and Rationale	8
	2.1	$oldsymbol{c}$	8
	2.2	Rationale	11
3	Obj		13
	3.1	Primary Objective	13
	3.2	3	13
	3.3	Study Process Measure	13
4	Stud	dy Outcomes	13
	4.1	Selection of Outcomes	13
	4.2	Primary Outcome	14
	4.3	Secondary Outcomes	15
	4.4	1 2	15
	4.5		15
	4.6	Child health-related quality of life instrument	17
5	Ove	rall Study Design	17
6	Stud	ly Population	19
	6.1	Treatment of Subjects	20
7	Trea	atment Assignment Procedures	20
	7.1		20
	7.2	Blinding	21
8	Stud	dy Procedures	21
	8.1	Study Schedule	21
	8.2	Screening and Informed Consent	23
	8.3	The Parent Interview	23
	8.4		23
	8.5		23
	8.6		24
	8.7	Strategies to Promote Retention	24
9	Data		24
	9.1	Intent-to-Treat (ITT) population	24
	9.2	Multiple Comparisons	24

	9.3	Analysis of the primary outcome	25
	9.4	Analysis of secondary outcomes	25
	9.5	Analysis of exploratory outcomes	26
	9.6	Heterogeneity of treatment effect (HTE)	26
	9.7	Instrumental variable analysis	27
	9.8	Missing Data	27
	9.9	Sample Size and Power	27
10	Data	a Management	28
	10.1	Study Monitoring	28
		10.1.1 Site Monitoring Plan	28
		10.1.2 Clinical Site Monitoring	28
		10.1.3 Remote Monitoring	29
	10.2	Record Access	29
11	Prot	ection of Human Subjects	29
		Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval	29
		Informed Consent Process	30
		Informed Consent	30
		Waivers Requested	31
		Potential Risks	31
		Protections Against Potential Risks	31
		Potential Benefits	32
12	Data	a and Safety Monitoring Plan	32
		Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB)	32
		Safety Reporting	32
	12.2	12.2.1 Definition of Medical Errors	32
		12.2.2 Definition of a Serious Adverse Event (SAE)	33
			33
		12.2.4 Data Collection Procedures for SAE	
		12.2.5 Unanticipated Problems (UP)	35
		12.2.6 Monitoring Serious Adverse Events	
		12.2.7 Follow-up of Serious Adverse Events	36
13	Stud	ly Training	36
13		Study Training	36
	13.1	Study Hammig	50
14		ulatory Considerations	37
		Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act	37
		Inclusion of Women and Minorities	37
		ClinicalTrials.gov Requirements	37
		Retention of Records	37
	14.5	Public Use Data Set	38
15	Bibli	iography	38

List of Tables

1	Representative comments from family, hospitalist, and PCP focus groups	10
2	Results of the BeneFIT RCT	11
3	RCTs that suggest efforts to augment follow-up can potentially result in overtreatment	12
4	Selection of outcomes informed by focus groups	14
5	Secondary, exploratory, and safety outcomes	16
6	Study Population	19
7	Study Schedule	22

1 Study Summary

Title	The Follow-up Automatically vs. As-Needed		
	Comparison (FAAN-C) trial		
Short Title	FAAN-C (pronounced "fancy")		
Design	FAAN-C is a multicenter randomized		
	controlled trial that will enroll 2,674 patients		
	across participating hospitals		
Study Duration	5 years		
Data Coordinating Center	University of Utah		
Primary objectives	Compare the effectiveness of as-needed vs.		
	automatic post-hospitalization follow-up		
Number of Subjects	2,674 patients		
Eligibility Criteria	Children, hospitalized for pneumonia, skin and		
	soft tissue infection, acute gastroenteritis, or		
	urinary tract infection will be eligible for		
	enrollment.		
	Excluded: Children with a history of comorbid		
	disease that is both chronic and complex		
Statistical Methodology	Analyses will be conducted in an		
	intention-to-treat (ITT) manner, in which all		
	randomized subjects are included and analyzed		
	according to their randomization assignment.		

2 Background and Rationale

2.1 Background

Follow-up visits are common A "follow-up visit" occurs when a medical provider instructs a patient to schedule an additional medical visit for the purpose of re-evaluating the patient's condition in the future. Follow-up visits are utilized in nearly every clinical setting, including follow-up after acute visits to primary care, urgent care, specialty care, the emergency department, or the hospital. Nationally representative survey data from the 2018 Medical Expenditure Panel Survey demonstrate that US children attend nearly 20 million follow-up visits annually, at a cost of \$4.3 billion.¹

Automatic post-hospitalization follow-up has intuitive appeal The present proposal focuses on one type of pediatric follow-up visit: the post-hospitalization follow-up visit. Most hospitalized patients (>80%) are prescribed automatic post-hospitalization follow-up, meaning they are routinely instructed to visit their primary care provider (PCP) shortly after hospital discharge, regardless of

symptom improvement.^{2, 3} The majority of patients comply with these instructions and attend the follow-up visit.^{3–5} The intuitive appeal of automatic follow-up is to provide an opportunity for PCPs to connect with patients and their families to: verify that a patient is following an expected course, adjust the treatment regimen if needed, provide additional reassurance about the patient's illness, and address any gaps in continuity of care (e.g., immunizations). Automatic follow-up is especially intuitive for children with chronic and/or complex medical needs, who are at increased risk for adverse events^{6, 7} and readmission.^{8–11} For this reason, discharge improvement interventions that include automatic follow-up have focused on populations of children with chronic and/or complex medical needs, such as children hospitalized for asthma, ¹² premature birth, ^{13, 14} or major surgery. ¹⁵

Automatic follow-up for previously healthy children recovering from common infections may not be necessary While the rationale for automatic follow-up is compelling for children who have chronic and complex medical needs, most hospitalized children are previously healthy and hospitalized for acute conditions from which complete recovery is expected. ^{16, 17} Five of the top 10 reasons for pediatric hospitalization are acute infections, including: pneumonia, bronchiolitis, skin and soft tissue infections, gastrointestinal infections, and urinary tract infections. ¹⁸ Together, these infections are responsible for over 500,000 pediatric hospitalizations each year in the US. ¹⁸ After hospital discharge, the vast majority of previously healthy children recover from these infections within a matter of days and rarely experience an interim worsening of their illness (readmission rates are <5% ¹⁰). Given such a reassuring prognosis, the benefit of automatic follow-up for previously healthy children recovering from common infections is unclear.

PRN follow-up is a patient and family-centered alternative to automatic follow-up Patient and family-centered care means that patient and family values guide all clinical decisions. Patients and families whose preferences are incorporated into their plan of care make more value-congruent choices and are more likely to follow the plan of care. A PRN (*pro re nata*, "as-needed") follow-up strategy is aligned with the principles of patient and family-centered care, encouraging families to monitor their child's symptoms after hospital discharge and schedule a visit if the child does not improve or if new concerns arise. As such, PRN follow-up empowers families with greater autonomy and allows them to consider their preferences and values when deciding whether or not to pursue post-hospitalization follow-up. Taking this decision-making away from families runs the risk of undermining their sense of self-efficacy—a patient's or parent's confidence to solve self-identified problems. Despite being patient and family-centered, PRN follow-up is prescribed to a minority of patients (10–15%) largely because of limited evidence. PRN follow-up

Preliminary data Families and medical providers struggle, not knowing which follow-up option is best. To better understand the perspectives of end users of post-hospitalization follow-up, we conducted three separate focus groups (Table 1), among: 1) parents of children who had been hospitalized, 2) hospitalists (physicians who care for hospitalized children), and 3) PCPs. Focus groups consisted of 6–8 participants each. Participants in each focus group came from at least 3 different FAAN-C institutions. Overall, families felt that their circumstances and the options available to them were not adequately considered in post-hospitalization follow-up decision-making.

Hospitalists expressed uncertainty about the available evidence to help guide their recommendations. PCPs saw advantages to some follow-up visits, but worried that others were unnecessary. The unifying theme for end-users was the need for better evidence to guide conversations and decision-making around follow-up.

Table 1: Representative comments from family, hospitalist, and PCP focus groups

Focus group question	Representative participant comments
For families: What has been your	"They tell you to go visit the doctor but they have no idea
experience with follow-up care	if you have transportation, money for gas, money for
instructions after your child's	parking, help with child care"
hospitalization?	"Whatever option they give you, you think that's all there
	is"
For hospitalists: Please describe	"It's a historical norm [automatic follow-up], that gives us
your decision-making for	some reassurance, but it's never been evidence tested"
post-hospitalization follow-up "We normally do this [automatic follow-up], we	
recommendations to families.	have done it, but it isn't backed in any confidence or any
	evidence"
For PCPs: Please describe your	"For anxious families or families with unanswered
experience with	questions it's been helpful"
post-hospitalization follow-up	"I feel bad when they're in clinic and they look great, and I
visits.	say ok you're better, sorry you have to pay a copay"
	"Our schedules are really packed full and you hate to have
	a family come in if they don't really need to be there"

BeneFIT RCT demonstrates promise of PRN follow-up for one common pediatric infection. Our team completed an RCT comparing PRN vs. automatic follow-up, called the Bronchiolitis Follow-up Intervention Trial (BeneFIT).²³ BeneFIT was a multicenter trial conducted across 4 hospitals. Bene-FIT participants were 304 children hospitalized for a common infection called bronchiolitis. Results from BeneFIT are presented in Table 2. Four-fold fewer families attended post-hospitalization follow-up visits in the PRN group (19%) compared to the automatic group (81%). Both groups otherwise had similar outcomes, including no significant differences in parent anxiety, symptom duration, or readmission.

Outcome	PRN N = 138	Automatic N = 131	Absolute Difference (95% CI)
Attendance of a follow-up visit, n (%)	26 (19)	106 (81)	-63 (-53 to -72)
Parent anxiety score, a mean	3.9	4.2	-0.3 (-1.0 to 0.7)
Days to symptom resolution, mean	10	11	-1 (-3 to 1)
Readmission, n (%)	3 (2)	5 (4)	-2 (-6 to 2)

Table 2: Results of the BeneFIT RCT

2.2 Rationale

The importance of examining post-hospitalization follow-up Observational studies have reached conflicting conclusions about post-hospitalization follow-up, with some studies finding an association between automatic follow-up and decreased rates of hospital revisit^{25–31} and other studies finding no association or increased rates of hospital revisit. 32-37 BeneFIT remains one of the only pediatric RCT to examine patient and family-centered outcomes for post-hospitalization follow-up.²³ Generalizations about post-hospitalization follow-up after BeneFIT are limited because BeneFIT was not powered to detect differences in hospital readmission, and BeneFIT only enrolled children with one specific type of infection, bronchiolitis. A systematic review of hospital discharge interventions highlighted post-hospitalization follow-up as its first "Persistent Literature Gap." 38 A national collaboration sponsored by the American Academy of Pediatrics' Quality Improvement Innovation Networks and the Section on Hospital Medicine concluded that certain quality measures, including post-hospitalization follow-up, "require further study for feasibility, measurement reliability and validity, and effectiveness in preventing harm."³⁹ Despite substantial gaps in the literature, multiple quality metrics have been developed recently to promote automatic post-hospitalization follow-up, including Pedi-BOOST, the Center of Excellence on Quality of Care Measures for Children with Complex Needs, and the Pediatric Transition Experience Measure. 40-43 Hospitals are adopting these measures and promoting automatic post-hospitalization follow-up.^{4,5}

PRN follow-up has potential to improve delivery of care High-value care makes efficient use of resources and ensures that patients receive meaningful benefit.⁴⁴ The "Triple Aim" in high-value care is to simultaneously improve the patient experience of care, reduce the cost of care, and improve the health of populations.⁴⁵ PRN follow-up has the potential to achieve this status by decreasing the amount of time that patients spend seeking medical care, decreasing patient costs, and decreasing exposure to unnecessary medical tests and treatments.

1) Time and cost-savings. Clinic visits require an average of two hours of a family's time and result in out-of-pocket expenses and lost income. 46 Out-of-pocket expenses include money for travel, parking, co-pays, and child care. These burdens disproportionately affect racial/ethnic minority and lower income families. For example, attendance of a clinic visit requires 30% more time

^aPrimary outcome, scored by validated instrument;²⁴ higher scores= greater anxiety

for Hispanic and Non-Hispanic Black families compared to Non-Hispanic white families due to increased travel and in-clinic time.⁴⁷ Out-of-pocket healthcare expenditures relative to income are >300% higher for families whose income is less than the Federal Poverty Level, compared to high-income families.⁴⁸ Lost income occurs when parents take time away from work to attend the visit, which is particularly challenging for parents who may have already taken time away from work during their child's hospitalization. Lost income at the time of hospitalization is highest for racial minority and single-parent households.⁴⁹ PRN follow-up could mitigate these burdens without compromising quality of care.

2) Decreased exposure to unnecessary medical tests and treatments. Seemingly benign medical interventions have the potential to precipitate additional tests and interventions that are unnecessary, costly, and potentially harmful.^{50–52} Four recent pediatric RCTs have compared PRN follow-up or usual care to an intervention that augments follow-up (Table 3). In each RCT, augmented follow-up resulted in more medical care, without otherwise improving patient outcomes. A pattern of increased medical care that does not improve patient outcomes is concerning for overtreatment.⁵³ For children recovering as expected, avoidance of a post-hospitalization follow-up visit might reduce exposure to overtreatment.

Table 3: RCTs that suggest efforts to augment follow-up can potentially result in overtreatment

RCT	Population	More intensive follow-up group	Less intensive follow-up group	Primary Outcome	Potential Overtreatment
Auger et al ⁵⁴	Hospitalized children (variety of diagnoses)	Post- discharge nurse-led home visit	No home visit	30-day reutilization rate for urgent health care services	The 30-day reutilization rate was higher in the augmented follow-up group.
Auger et al ⁵⁵	Hospitalized children (variety of diagnoses)	A post- discharge telephone call	No phone call	30-day reutilization rate for urgent health care services	No significant difference, but point estimate for the 30-day reutilization rate higher in augmented follow-up group.
Colaco et al ⁵⁶	Children with distal radius buckle fractures	Automatic PCP follow-up	PRN follow-up	Parent report of child's physical function 3 weeks after injury	No difference in primary outcome; more physician visits, higher costs, and more radiographs for augmented follow-up.
Coon et al ²³ (BeneFIT)	Hospitalized children with bronchiolitis	Automatic PCP follow-up	PRN follow-up	Parental anxiety 7 days after discharge	No difference in primary outcome; new prescriptions at follow-up visits for therapies discouraged by national guidelines. ⁵⁷

3 Objectives and Outcomes

3.1 Primary Objective

The primary objective of this study is to compare the effect of a recommendation for PRN vs. automatic post-hospitalization follow-up on hospital readmission within 14 days of hospital discharge. We hypothesize that a recommendation for PRN follow-up will be non-inferior to a recommendation for automatic follow-up in terms of hospital readmission rates.

3.2 Secondary Objectives

Our secondary objectives are to determine the effect of a recommendation for PRN follow-up, compared to a recommendation for automatic follow-up, on:

- medical interventions that a child receives after hospital discharge
- child health-related quality of life

3.3 Study Process Measure

The proportion of participants who attend a follow-up visit (in-person or via telehealth) within 7 days of hospital discharge will be reported but will not be categorized as a formal outcome. Rather, the proportion of participants who attend a post-hospitalization follow-up visit will be a study process measure. A prior trial demonstrated that randomization to a recommendation of PRN vs automatic follow-up does result in a large difference in follow-up visit attendance.²³ We hypothesize that recommendations for PRN vs automatic follow-up in FAAN-C will similarly result in large differences in follow-up visit attendance.

4 Study Outcomes

4.1 Selection of Outcomes

Selection of study outcomes was informed by the previously described focus groups involving parents of hospitalized children, hospitalists, and PCPs. Illustrative quotes that influenced selection of specific outcomes are presented in Table 4. Parents, PCPs, and hospitalists were clear that hospital readmission should be the primary outcome.

Page 14 of 44 Protocol 1.00 (Coon)

Table 4: Selection of outcomes informed by focus groups

Participant	Representative participant responses to a question asking which outcomes would be important to study	Outcome added to FAAN-C
Parent	"The impact on parents, their time away from work"	Parent time
Parent	"We're all very invested in making sure things work out the best for our kids, often at the expense of our own health. Anxiety would be interesting to see because that plays into the situation and comes back to impact our kids as well."	Parent anxiety
Parent	"The one that really stands out to me is the number of times we have to go back to the hospital after being sent home."	Hospital readmission as the primary outcome
PCPs	"I feel like I develop my relationship with my patients and families through their well-child check-ups, not the sick or hospital follow-up appointments."	Well-child visits
PCPs	"I like to at least call my patients and parents after they are discharged from the hospital to maintain that relationship."	Telephone and electronic communications with medical providers
PCPs	"We worry that if kids don't follow-up, are they going to get so bad they need to be readmitted, so we hope that the follow-up prevents readmission."	Hospital readmission as the primary outcome
Hospitalist	"I think it helps to strengthen the relationship between the PCP and the family, so that they can see their PCP as not just the well doctor, but the well and sick doctor."	Usual place of medical care
Hospitalist	"I would look at health outcomes, readmission number one and emergency department utilization."	Hospital readmission as the primary outcome; total additional ambulatory visits

4.2 Primary Outcome

The primary outcome is the proportion of participants who experience a hospital readmission within 14 days of their index hospital discharge. All causes of hospital readmission, even if seemingly unrelated to the index infection, will be scored as a hospital readmission for the purpose of the primary outcome. Hospital readmission will be measured primarily by parent report. On days 7, 14, and 30 after hospital discharge, parents will be surveyed and asked about hospital readmissions since discharge. Parent report allows capture of readmissions that occur outside of a given hospital's electronic health record (EHR) system. However, parent report may be inaccurate for a proportion of participants and will be missing for others. Parent report will be assumed inaccurate in two cases: (1) a parent reports a readmission at a hospital whose records are available in the EHR, but there is no readmission documented in the EHR. These cases will not be counted as readmissions. (2) Cases in which a parent reports no readmission but there is a readmission documented in the EHR. These cases will be counted as readmissions when parent report is missing, imputation will be utilized, as described in the missing data section.

4.3 Secondary Outcomes

Medical interventions and child health-related quality of life are pre-specified as the main secondary outcomes under consideration. Medical interventions are a main secondary outcome because decreasing exposure to unnecessary medical tests and treatments is a core component of improving healthcare value and a potential advantage of PRN follow-up. Medical interventions will be measured by parent report. Child health-related quality of life is a main secondary outcome because it is a patient-centered measure of how much a child's health is impacting their usual activities or routines. Child health-related quality of life will be measured by child report, unless the child is too young to self-report or prefers parent report.

4.4 Exploratory Outcomes

Exploratory outcomes are listed in Table 5. If participants in the PRN follow-up group are able to attend fewer post-hospitalization follow-up visits, the cost burden to parents, the child's time away from school or daycare, and parent time away from work and other responsibilities might be lower. We hypothesize that a recommendation for PRN follow-up might result in greater telephone and electronic communications between families and the child's medical providers. It is possible that a recommendation for PRN follow-up could serve as a missed opportunity to reconnect a child and their primary care provider, resulting in small decreases in well-child visits, immunizations, participants who report having a usual place of medical care, and medical interventions related to the index infection. We hypothesize that the remainder of the exploratory outcomes (symptom duration, parent self-efficacy, parent anxiety, and satisfaction with care) will be similar between participants randomized to a recommendation for PRN follow-up compared to participants randomized to a recommendation for automatic follow-up. All exploratory outcomes are measured by parent report, from the time of hospital discharge until the specified time after discharge.

4.5 Safety Outcomes

Safety outcomes are also listed in Table 5. Safety outcomes were selected with the goal of capturing adverse consequences (beyond hospital readmission, the primary outcome) that families might experience as a result of a recommendation for PRN follow-up, compared to a recommendation for automatic follow-up. A recommendation for PRN follow-up may result in those participants having to attend a greater number of other types of ambulatory visits (e.g., emergency department visits). The subset of non-primary care ambulatory visits will be measured because these visits have the potential to be more burdensome for participants (i.e., larger co-pays and urgent, less convenient visits), relative to a primary care visit. It is also possible that a recommendation for PRN follow-up could result in greater exposure to medical errors after hospital discharge (e.g., medication problems, complications of care), since another medical provider may not connect with the child and family shortly after hospital discharge. In addition to the primary outcome of all-cause hospital readmission, an additional safety outcome will be hospital readmissions related to the index infection. All safety outcomes are measured by parent report, from the time of hospital discharge

until the specified time after discharge.

Table 5: Secondary, exploratory, and safety outcomes

Outcome	Definition	Expected outcomes type for analysis ^a
	Secondary outcomes	
Medical interventions	Proportion of participants who receive either a laboratory test, imaging test ^b , or a new medication within 14 days of hospital discharge	Binary
Child health-related quality of life	Mean health-related quality of life score 7 days after hospital discharge, measured by the Impact on Activities and Routines instrument	Normal
	Exploratory outcomes	
Cost burden	Mean total costs to parents (missed income and expenses) related to the participant's illness within 14 days of hospital discharge, measured by the cost burden survey in Chang et al ⁴⁹	Binomial- Gamma hurdle
Child time	Mean number of hours of school or daycare missed by the participant within 14 days of hospital discharge as a result of their medical needs	Over-dispersed Binomial
Parent time	Mean number of hours spent away from responsibilities (work or non-work related) by parents within 14 days of hospital discharge as a result of their child's medical needs	Normal or Gamma
Symptom duration	Proportion of participants who have completely recovered from their infection at 7 days after hospital discharge	Binary
Total additional ambulatory visits	Mean number of ambulatory visits (in-person or via telehealth) that a participant attends, apart from the post-hospitalization follow-up visit, within 30 days of hospital discharge; Ambulatory visits include clinic, urgent care, and emergency department (not resulting in hospital admission) visits.	Negative Binomial
Non-primary care ambulatory visits	Mean number of ambulatory visits (in-person or via telehealth) to non-primary care providers, within 30 days of hospital discharge; Non-primary care providers will include all providers outside of the clinic that families identify as their primary care clinic.	Negative Binomial
Parent self-efficacy	Mean self-efficacy score 7 days after hospital discharge, measured by the PROMIS self-efficacy short form ⁵⁸	Normal
Parent anxiety	Mean anxiety score 7 days after hospital discharge, measured by the PROMIS anxiety short form ⁵⁸	Normal or Gamma
Satisfaction with care	Proportion of participants who report agreeing or strongly agreeing with the statement, "I am satisfied with the medical care my child has received since hospital discharge," 7 days after hospital discharge	Binary
Telephone and electronic communications with medical providers	Mean number of telephone and electronic (excluding telehealth visits) communications with a medical provider within 14 days of hospital discharge	Negative Binomial
Well-child visits	Proportion of participants who attend a well-child visit within 6 months of hospital discharge	Binary
Immunizations	Proportion of participants who receive an immunization within 6 months of hospital discharge	Binary

Usual place of medical care	Proportion of participants who report having a usual place of medical care 6 months after hospital discharge	Binary	
Medical interventions related to the index infection	Proportion of participants who receive either a laboratory test, imaging ^b test, or a new medication related to the index infection within 14 days of hospital discharge	Binary	
Safety outcomes			
Medical errors	Proportion of parents who report that their child experienced a medical error within 14 days of hospital discharge, measured by the Family Safety Interview ⁵⁹	Binary	
Hospital readmissions related to the index infection	Proportion of participants who experience a hospital readmission related to the index infection within 14 days of hospital discharge	Binary	

^aOutcome type designations, particular as normal or gamma, are preliminary and may be updated based on the observed skewness in the outcome variables.

4.6 Child health-related quality of life instrument

All instruments will be scored as described in the referenced publications. The Impact on Activities and Routines Instrument, used to measure child health-related quality of life, has not been published yet. For this reason, we describe this instrument and its scoring here. The Impact on Activities and Routines Instrument has the option of using a child-reported question or a parent-reported question. The child-reported question will be utilized, unless the participant is too young to self-report or prefers parent report. The child reported question is: In the past 7 days, how much did the medical concern that led to your hospitalization impact your usual activities or routines (e.g., go to school, play, eat, sleep)? The parent-reported questions that will be used, if necessary, is: In the past 7 days, how much did the medical concern that led to your child's hospitalization impact their usual activities or routines (e.g., go to school, play, eat, sleep)? Answer choices to both questions are: 1, Not at all | 2, Slightly | 3, Moderately | 4, Quite a lot | 5, Extremely. Mean score responses will be used in analyses.

5 Overall Study Design

FAAN-C is a multicenter RCT that will enroll 2,674 patients across approximately 10 hospitals, including children's and community hospitals. Inclusion of community hospitals is a priority because community hospitals care for the majority of hospitalized children in the US¹⁷ but are historically underrepresented in research.^{60, 61} FAAN-C is powered for non-inferiority of a recommendation for PRN follow-up compared to a recommendation for automatic follow-up, with 14-day all-cause

^bUrogenital imaging for urinary tract infections will be excluded from this measure because urogenital imaging is often recommended by guidelines and the potential benefits of such imaging have a longer time horizon than the present study.

hospital readmission as the primary outcome. Non-inferiority trials test the hypothesis that one intervention is not worse than a comparator with respect to the primary outcome. This design is useful when evaluating an intervention that is more efficient, less prone to adverse events, and/or less costly than the accepted comparator.⁶² If non-inferiority is demonstrated, patients can benefit from a simpler, safer alternative intervention. In the case of FAAN-C, there are clear advantages to PRN follow-up over automatic follow-up. Namely, a recommendation for PRN follow-up affords families the convenience of not necessarily having to attend another medical appointment, which means decreased costs and decreased time away from work and school. As such, FAAN-C fits a non-inferiority trial design. If PRN follow-up is shown to be non-inferior to automatic follow-up for the primary outcome (and safety outcomes are similar), the convenience and cost advantages of PRN follow-up are manifest enough that PRN follow-up would generally be preferred to automatic follow-up.

6 Study Population

Table 6 details the inclusion and exclusion criteria for participants in FAAN-C. Eligible participants must meet all inclusion criteria and none of the exclusion criteria.

Table 6: Study Population

	Inclusion	n Criteria	Exclusion Criteria			
Pneumonia	- Age <18 years - Hospitalized (including observation visits) - Parent speaks English or Spanish	- Attending diagnosis of pneumonia as the principal disease that led to hospital admission	- Presence of a comorbid disease that is both chronic and complex* - principal disease required surgical intervention (beyond superficial incision and drainage)	– Received a chest tube		
Urinary Tract Infection		- Attending diagnosis of urinary tract infection as the principal disease that led to hospital admission	- Immunodeficiency (innate or receiving a long-term immunosuppressive medication) - A well-child check-up or post-hospitalization follow-up visit is already scheduled within 7 days of hospital discharge	- History of neurogenic bladder or urologic surgery (beyond circumcision) - Renal imaging anticipated within 7 days of hospital discharge - Complicated by a renal abscess		
Skin and soft tissue infection		- Attending diagnosis of skin and soft tissue infection as the principal disease that led to hospital admission	 Parent or participant strongly prefers PRN or automatic follow-up A medical provider feels strongly that a post-hospitalization follow-up visit is needed within 7 days of hospital discharge 	- Chronic wound - Postoperative infection - Predisposition to poor wound healing - Discharging with a drain in place - Complicated by necrotizing fasciitis or toxic shock syndrome		
Acute Gastroenteritis		- Attending diagnosis of acute gastroenteritis as the principal disease that led to hospital admission	Sibling concurrently hospitalized Unable to identify a clinic where the participant would receive any needed post-hospitalization follow-up	- Complicated by hemolytic uremic syndrome		

^{*}Definition of comorbid disease that is both chronic and complex: Any disease that can be reasonably expected to last at least 12 months (unless death intervenes) and to involve either several different organ systems or 1 organ system severely enough to require specialty pediatric care and probably some period of hospitalization in a tertiary care center⁶³

6.1 Treatment of Subjects

At the time of hospital discharge, families will be randomly assigned to either PRN or automatic follow-up recommendations as described below:

<u>PRN follow-up</u>: "You do not need to schedule a follow-up visit with your child's regular doctor today. If your child's illness continues to improve, you do not need to have a visit with your child's regular doctor within the next 7 days. If your child's illness does not seem to be getting better or you develop any new concerns, we recommend that you contact your child's regular doctor to discuss whether a follow-up visit might be necessary."

<u>Automatic follow-up</u>: "Please schedule a follow-up visit with your child's regular doctor before leaving the hospital. Please schedule the visit to occur within the next 7 days and plan to attend the visit even if your child's illness is getting better."

The automatic follow-up instructions are aligned with proposed quality metrics⁴⁰ and previous studies of automatic follow-up.^{25, 26, 28, 32, 34} Both the PRN and automatic follow-up instructions were utilized successfully for our prior trial, BeneFIT.²³

<u>Pragmatic features of comparators.</u> Pragmatic features that will make findings from FAAN-C more generalizable and quickly scalable include the following: 1) Follow-up visits, whether automatic or deemed necessary in the PRN group, can be conducted either in-person or via telehealth. The decision about whether a visit should occur in person or via telehealth will be at the discretion of families and their medical providers. 2) Beyond randomization to either PRN or automatic post-hospitalization follow-up recommendations, FAAN-C is not otherwise prescriptive for a participant's medical care. Hospitalists have complete autonomy about the patient's care while hospitalized, and PCPs have complete autonomy for the patient's care after hospitalization. 3) Beyond embedding follow-up instructions in the electronic health record, the discharge process is otherwise preserved according to each hospital's usual procedures.

7 Treatment Assignment Procedures

7.1 Randomization

Randomization will be performed using randomly permuted blocks of random sizes, stratified by the four types of infection and hospital site. Children will be assigned in a 1:1 ratio to receive a recommendation for either PRN or automatic post-hospitalization follow-up. Randomization sequence generation will be performed by study investigators who are not involved in the intervention assignment of enrolled participants. Allocation concealment will be maintained by a central, automated computer platform (REDCap).

7.2 Blinding

Owing to the nature of the comparators, blinding of participants and their medical providers is not possible. However, outcomes that require adjudication will be adjudicated by persons blinded to the subject's randomized group. Outcomes requiring adjudication in FAAN-C are the safety outcomes (hospital readmissions related to the index infection and medical errors). Specifically, a clinician will determine if the readmission was related to the index infection and a separate clinician will score parent-reported medical errors in terms of severity (as described in the Safety Reporting section of this protocol). The clinicians performing adjudication of these outcomes will be blinded to the subject's randomized group.

8 Study Procedures

8.1 Study Schedule

A schedule of study events for each participant is outlined in Table 7. "While hospitalized" events will occur between the time of hospital admission and the time of hospital discharge.

Page 22 of 44 Protocol 1.00 (Coon)

Table 7: Study Schedule

	While hos- pitalized	After hospital discharge			
		Day 7	Day 14	Day 30	Day 180
Screening	/				
Informed consent	/				
Parent interview	/				
Randomization	/				
Notify family, PCP, and inpatient team of assignment	/				
Chart review				/	
Process measure					<u> </u>
Completion of a post-hospitalization follow-up		×			
Outcomes					
All-cause hospital readmissions		0	×	0	
Medical interventions		0	×	0	
Child health-related quality of life	0	×	0	0	
Cost burden		0	×	0	
Child time		0	×	0	
Parent time		0	×	0	
Symptom duration	0	×	0	0	
Total additional ambulatory visits		0	0	×	
Non-primary care ambulatory visits		0	0	×	
Parent self-efficacy	0	×		0	0
Parent anxiety	0	×		0	
Satisfaction with care	0	×			
Telephone or electronic communications with medical providers		0	×	0	
Well-child visits	0				×
Immunizations	0				×
Usual place of medical care	0				×
Medical interventions related to the index infection		0	×	0	
Medical errors		0	×	0	
Hospital readmissions related to the index infection		0	×	0	

^{/ =} task performed at the specified timepoint

^{○ =} measured at the specified timepoint

X = measured at the specified timepoint and this is the timepoint used for primary analyses

8.2 Screening and Informed Consent

Study staff will regularly review the list of hospitalized patients at their site. Study staff will verify eligibility by a combination of reviewing the subject's medical record and discussion with the inpatient team caring for the patient, as necessary. After study eligibility has been verified, study staff will approach the parents of the eligible child for consent (and assent from the child, as appropriate). Parents who consent to study participation will then be asked to participate in the parent interview. Within REDCap, a record will be kept of all screened but not enrolled participants. Reasons for not enrolling will be recorded.

8.3 The Parent Interview

The parent interview will obtain sociodemographic data (e.g., race, ethnicity, financial hardship) about the child and the child's parents. Baseline measurements of the outcomes that are measured during hospitalization will also be measured during the parent interview. Screening, consent, and the parent interview will occur before randomization.

8.4 Randomization Process

Randomization will occur when study staff learn that hospital discharge for the study participant is likely to be that day and/or discharge orders have been placed. Prior to randomization, study staff will complete an enrollment checklist in REDCap. The enrollment checklist will verify that all necessary pre-randomization items have been completed. When the enrollment checklist is complete, REDCap will supply the study staff with the patient's randomization assignment. Study staff will notify the patient and their parents of their randomization assignment and their recommended follow-up strategy (PRN or automatic follow-up). Study staff will also communicate the participant's randomization assignment to the participant's inpatient medical team and PCP.

8.5 Chart Review

Study staff will perform chart review. We will collect data elements related to each child's past medical history (e.g., comorbidities), as well as the complexity and severity of their acute infection while hospitalized (e.g., presence of bacteremia, need for intensive care). Chart reviewers will also record readmissions. For each readmission, data elements for the severity and complexity of the illness(es) for which the participant was readmitted will be collected. Chart review can begin anytime after a participant is discharged from the hospital but cannot be completed until the participant is at least 30 days out from discharge.

8.6 Outcome Measurement

Outcomes will be measured according to the timing in Table 7. "While hospitalized" outcomes will be measured prior to randomization. "After hospital discharge" outcomes will be measured by surveying parents on days 7, 14, 30, and 180, as specified. An additional 4 days will be permitted for the collection of data on the 7, 14, and 30 day timepoints and \pm 7 days for the day 180 timepoint. For example, day 7 outcomes can be collected between day 7 and day 11. These intervals allow for holidays, weekends, and other reasons for parent unavailability that may preclude contact on the exact day.

8.7 Strategies to Promote Retention

We will utilize the following strategies to promote study retention: 1) Participating families will receive a \$20 gift card at enrollment and an additional \$20 gift card for answering each subsequent study-related survey (\$100 in total); 2) We will use multiple methods of contact for parents, including home and cell phone numbers and email addresses. 3) Parents will provide days and times when a phone call is most convenient.

9 Data Analysis

9.1 Intent-to-Treat (ITT) population

Analyses will be conducted in an intention-to-treat (ITT) manner, in which all randomized subjects are included and analyzed according to their randomization assignment.⁶⁴ Subjects who withdraw or get removed from the study will be included in the ITT population. The ITT population will be used for the primary analysis as well as for safety analyses.

9.2 Multiple Comparisons

The studywise Type-1 error will be controlled by designating a single primary outcome, defined as all-cause hospital readmission within 14 days of discharge. The primary analysis will test the noninferiority of a recommendation for PRN follow-up compared to a recommendation for automatic follow-up on hospital readmission within 14 days of hospital discharge using a 1-sided α -level of 0.05.

The trial design also includes two secondary outcomes, the occurrence of a medical intervention, and health-related child quality of life as measured by the Impact on Activities and Routines instrument. We will evaluate both of these secondary outcomes for treatment efficacy using 2-sided hypothesis tests. We will use the Bonferroni-Holm procedure to assure a studywise α -level of 0.05 for the two

secondary outcomes considered jointly. In the Bonferroni-Holm procedure, we will first compute 2-sided p-values for both secondary outcomes. If the smaller of the two p-values is < 0.025, the treatment comparison for that outcome will be declared statistically significant, and the larger p-value will be compared to 0.05 to determine if the other comparison is also statistically significant. If the smallest of the two p-values is ≥ 0.025 , then the treatment comparisons for both secondary outcomes will be regarded as not statistically significant.

To avoid reducing statistical power, comparisons of safety outcomes will be performed using 2-sided α -levels of 0.05 for each safety outcome on a comparisonwise basis, without adjustment for multiple comparisons.

All other outcomes are exploratory.

9.3 Analysis of the primary outcome

The risk of all-cause hospital readmission within 14 days of hospital discharge will be compared between the groups who receive a recommendation for PRN vs. automatic follow-up by applying maximum likelihood estimation under a log binomial generalized linear model with indicator variables for randomized treatment, the four infection types, and hospital site included in the models as predictor variables. The primary results will be expressed as a risk difference with a 95% upper confidence bound. In the event that log binomial model fails to converge, the risk ratio with the 95% upper confidence bound will be estimated by applying logistic regression (with a logistic link function) and using the marginal means approach to estimate the risk of the outcome first setting the treatment variable to "automatic" for all patients and then setting the treatment variable to "PRN" for all patients, and performing statistical inference using bootstrap resampling.

The test of noninferiority will be performed by constructing a 95% upper confidence bound for the difference in risk of a hospital readmission within 14 days under the as-needed treatment group vs. automatic follow-up group. Noninferiority will be inferred if this confidence bound excludes the noninferiority margin of 2.5%.

9.4 Analysis of secondary outcomes

Similarly to the primary outcome, the probability of a medical intervention within 14 days of hospital discharge will be compared between the groups who receive a recommendation for PRN vs automatic follow-up by applying maximum likelihood estimation under a log binomial generalized linear model with indicator variables for randomized treatment, the four infection types, and hospital site included in the models as predictor variables. The estimated treatment effect will be expressed as a risk difference with a 2-sided 95% confidence interval. In the event that log binomial model fails to converge, the risk ratio with 95% confidence intervals will be estimated by applying logistic regression (with a logistic link function) and using the marginal means approach to estimate the risk of the outcome first setting the treatment variable to "automatic" for all patients and then setting the treatment variable to "PRN" for all patients, and performing statistical inference using bootstrap

resampling.

The mean health-related quality of life score 7 days after hospital discharge, measured by the Impact on Activities and Routines instrument, will be compared between the groups who receive a recommendation for PRN vs automatic follow-up by applying an analysis of covariance, with the baseline quality of life score, the four infection types, and hospital site included in the model as covariates. The estimated treatment effect will be expressed as a mean difference in the health-related quality of life score between the randomized groups with a 2-sided 95% confidence interval.

9.5 Analysis of exploratory outcomes

Generalized linear models with normal, gamma or lognormal, binary, binomial, and negative binomial outcome models will be used in ITT analyses to compare symmetric numeric, positively skewed numeric, dichotomous, count outcome assessed a designated number of times, and count outcomes without a fixed number of assessments, respectively, between the PRN and automatic follow-up recommendation groups.^{65, 66} Hospital site and type of infection will again be included as covariates. Effects will be expressed as a difference in means between the PRN and automatic follow-up recommendation groups for normal outcomes, as a ratio of means for gamma and lognormal continuous outcomes, as risk ratios for binary outcomes, and as rate ratios for binomial and negative binomial outcomes. As for the primary outcome, if the log binomial model fails to converge, relative risks for binary outcomes will be analyzed by applying logistic regression with the marginal means approach and bootstrap resampling. Analyses using the binomial outcome model will account for overdispersion. Several numeric outcomes will be evaluated longitudinally. For these outcomes, we will adjust for the baseline level of the outcome (measured on day 0), which improves statistical power by framing the analysis as an analysis of covariates (ANCOVA), as is recommended in randomized trials. Log-rank tests with stratification of the baseline hazard by hospital site and type of infection will compare time-to-event outcomes between groups. The log-rank test will be used to compare child symptom duration between randomized groups, with a hazard ratio estimating using Cox regression.

9.6 Heterogeneity of treatment effect (HTE)

HTE analyses will be hypothesis-generating, with the goal of identifying populations of patients for whom a recommendation for PRN follow-up is particularly effective. HTE analyses will evaluate the consistency of treatment effects on the primary outcome across the four types of infection, as well as patient race, ethnicity, finacial and social hardship, and use of telehealth for follow-up. The log-binomial generalized linear model for the primary outcome will be repeated for each subgroup. In addition, for each subgroup factor the log-binomial model for the full cohort will be extended by including interaction terms between the randomized treatment and the subgroup factor. The results of these subgroup analyses will be displayed by a forest plot containing risk ratios with 95% confidence intervals for each subgroup, with interaction p-values displayed on the plot.

9.7 Instrumental variable analysis

We will supplement the ITT analysis with an instrumental variable analysis, which is a type of per-protocol analysis and is a recommended component of non-inferiority trials.^{67, 68} We will use randomization as the instrument to approximate the average causal effect on patient outcomes of actually attending a post-hospitalization follow-up visit. While the ITT analysis evaluates the average effect of assigning subjects to a recommendation for PRN vs automatic follow-up in the full cohort, an instrumental variable analysis estimates the average effect of actually receiving a follow-up visit among patients who would attend the visit if assigned to an automatic follow-up recommendation, but not if assigned to a PRN follow-up recommendation. The instrumental variable analysis depends on two key assumptions: 1) the randomized treatment influences outcomes only through the effect of treatment assignment on the occurrence or nonoccurrence of a follow-up visit, and 2) randomization to a PRN follow-up recommendation does not cause any subjects to attend a follow-up visit when they would not have done so if randomized to an automatic follow-up recommendation.⁶⁹

9.8 Missing Data

We will use multiple imputation based on fully sequential imputation with predictive mean matching to impute missing data. Multiple imputation will be particularly useful because we expect to have strong auxiliary variables—that is, variables that are highly correlated with study outcomes and risk of missingness. Auxiliary variables we will utilize include patient demographic factors (e.g., race, ethnicity) measures of illness severity (e.g., length of stay, disease-specific characteristics), and hospital readmission documented in the electronic medical record.

9.9 Sample Size and Power

The RCT will be powered for non-inferiority of a recommendation for PRN follow-up compared to automatic follow-up for the primary outcome, 14-day all-cause hospital readmission. In 2019, the mean 14-day all-cause readmission rate across FAAN-C sites among patients who would meet inclusion criteria for FAAN-C was 3.5% (extracted from the Pediatric Health Information Systems database on April 29, 2020). Given that automatic post-hospitalization follow-up is recommended to the majority of hospitalized children, we used 3.5% as the estimated readmission rate for the automatic post-hospitalization follow-up group. We set the non-inferiority margin at 2.5% because hospitalists and PCPs reported in focus groups that they would consider a recommendation for PRN follow-up to be inferior to a recommendation for automatic follow-up if the PRN follow-up recommendation resulted in a more than 2–3% absolute increase in hospital readmissions. At a margin of 2.5%, the parents of 40 children would need to be instructed to have automatic follow-up visits before 1 hospital readmission would be prevented (that is, the number needed to treat⁷¹ =40). If \geq 40 parents would need to be instructed to have automatic follow-up to prevent a hospital readmission, we will conclude that a recommendation for PRN follow-up is non-inferior to a recommendation for automatic follow-up. We assume that the primary outcome will be available

for at least 85% of subjects (15% attrition). Under these assumptions, a total sample size of 2,674 patients (1,337 patients in each group) will provide 90% power with 1-sided α =0.025 to demonstrate non-inferiority of a recommendation for PRN follow-up. We defined the non-inferiority margin without adjusting for non-compliance for two main reasons. First, patients randomized to a recommendation for PRN follow-up are compliant whether or not they choose to attend a follow-up visit. Secondly, the assumed readmission rate for the automatic follow-up group (3.5%) is derived from a sample from which non-compliance occurred. Non-compliance is expected to be greater outside of a trial setting, which preserves our conservative power estimate.

10 Data Management

10.1 Study Monitoring

The investigators recognize the importance of ensuring data of excellent quality. Study monitoring is critical to this process. Monitoring has been a very effective tool for maintaining data quality in previous studies, and we will utilize this process to ensure excellent quality data in the proposed study. The Data Coordinating Center utilizes risk-based methodology to identify and correct problems that may arise at sites. The risk-based approach to monitoring focuses on oversight activities and preventing or mitigating key risks to data quality, as well as to processes critical to human subject protection and integrity of the trial or study.

Study monitors must be provided with appropriate access to study materials and the medical records for study subjects. If the medical records are in electronic form, the clinical investigator or an authorized individual must provide any assistance necessary to facilitate the study monitor's review of data in the electronic medical record.

10.1.1 Site Monitoring Plan

A supplemental study-specific risk-based monitoring plan, separate from the protocol will be completed which outlines specific criteria for monitoring. This plan may include the number of planned site visits, criteria for focused visits, additional visits or remote monitoring, a plan for chart review and a follow-up plan for non-compliant sites. The monitoring plan also describes the type of monitoring that will take place (e.g., sample of all subjects within a site; key data or all data), the schedule of visits, how they are reported and a time frame to resolve any issues found.

10.1.2 Clinical Site Monitoring

Site monitoring visits may be performed during the study period to ensure regulatory compliance, patient safety, and to monitor the quality of data collected. Essential document binders, regulatory documents and data collection forms may be reviewed. The site monitor will provide each site with

a written report, and sites will be required to follow-up on any deficiencies. The site initiation may take place as group training made up of site investigators and research assistants.

10.1.3 Remote Monitoring

The Data Coordinating Center may supplement on-site monitoring with remote monitoring activities. Remote monitoring involves detailed review of the data entered by each site and consultations with each site investigator and/or research coordinator to review safety and data quality. This may require uploading copies of medical records, patient study files, regulatory documentation, or other source documents for the monitor to review. Alternatively, other methods, such as remotely viewing source documentation, may be utilized. This helps assure protocol compliance and accurate data collection. The Data Coordinating Center may conduct more remote monitoring activities early in the trial to assure protocol compliance and identify any training issues that may exist. Remote monitoring documents will be retained in accordance with federal requirements. Safety of subjects will be monitored and ensured in accordance with the Data and Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) plan.

10.2 Record Access

The medical record and study files (including informed consent, permission, and assent documents) must be made available to authorized representatives of the Data Coordinating Center, upon request, for source verification of study documentation. In addition, medical information and data generated by this study must be available for inspection upon request by representatives (when applicable) of the, NIH, other Federal funders or study sponsors, and the Institutional Review Board (IRB) for each study site.

11 Protection of Human Subjects

11.1 Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval

The Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the University of Utah will serve as the single IRB. The Utah IRB has extensive experience with single IRB implementation due to our participation in the NCATS funded Trial Innovation Center, which has implemented over 35 SIRB studies, several with EFIC.

In addition to SIRB activities, each institution has Human Research Protection activities that will be completed prior to site activation. These include conflict of interest, assuring competence of investigators, impact on hospital services, etc., and are individualized to each site.

The Data Coordinating Center will track IRB approval status at all participating centers and will not permit subject enrollment without documentation of initial IRB approval and local review

sign-off. The Data Coordinating Center will also track the maintenance of that approval throughout subsequent years of the project.

11.2 Informed Consent Process

SIRB procedures should be well understood by all research staff and clearly documented in the Essential Documents Binder or eBinder.

GCP Reminder (Informed consent advice from OHRP): Informed Consent is a process, not a form. Information must be presented to enable the person to voluntarily decide whether or not to participate as a research subject. It is a fundamental mechanism that ensures respect for persons through provision of thoughtful consent for a voluntary act. The procedures used in obtaining informed consent should be designed to educate the subject population in terms that they can understand. Think of the document primarily as a teaching tool not as a legal instrument. http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/guidance/informed-consent/index.html

The informed consent process can be a collaborative effort between research staff, the site PI and Co-PIs, and clinicians. However, if the site PI/Co-PI are unavailable research staff may introduce the study and proceed through the informed consent process. A PI or CO-PI should always be available by phone to the research staff to answer any additional questions the family may have as needed in the rare case that the research staff is unable to answer specific questions.

11.3 Informed Consent

The informed consent/parental permission document must be approved by the SIRB and local HRPP prior to conducting any research activities. The informed consent/parental permission must be signed before any study procedures begin. ALL subjects participating must have a signed and dated consent form/parental permission form as part of the patient study file. An electronic or paper copy of the signed and dated consent form/parental permission form will be provided to the patient. At some institutions the form must also be signed and dated by the person obtaining the consent/parental permission.

Parental Permission

Subjects who are eligible for this study are under 18 years of age, and written permission from parents or legal guardians will be required for participation. After determining that a subject is eligible, the site investigator or designee will approach the parent or legal guardian to offer participation for their child in the study. The parent or legal guardian will be informed about the objectives of the study and the potential risks and benefits of participation. Subject will only be enrolled if their parent or guardian provides permission for their child to participate.

Protocol 1.00 (Coon) Page 31 of 44

Child Assent

Children who are capable of giving assent and who are alert and competent, will be asked, following an age-appropriate discussion of risks and benefits, to give assent to the study or further study procedures. Assent will be waived if the child is too young, has a severely reduced mental age, decreased level of consciousness, psychological problems, or other legitimate reasons as judged by

the Institutional Review Board.

Subject Consent

If a subject attains the age of 18 years during the study period, informed consent is required. Subjects who are capable of giving consent and who are alert and competent, will be asked, following an appropriate discussion of risks and benefits, to give consent to the study. For those with diminished mental capacity, a Legal Authorized Representative will be used.

11.4 Waivers Requested

Waiver of Authorization

A waiver of authorization is requested in order to be able to pre-screen/establish eligibility for subject prior to approaching, consenting, and enrolling a subject.

Waiver of Documentation of Informed Consent

The waiver is requested for subjects who reach the age of majority (18 years), after randomization.

11.5 Potential Risks

Loss of confidentiality of the subject is a potential risk of the study; however, safeguards are in place to protect against this.

11.6 Protections Against Potential Risks

To protect against a loss of confidentiality, the information gathered for this study will be coded with a special study number. A child's or parent's name and information that could identify them will be stored securely at the site where they were enrolled or in the study database.

11.7 Potential Benefits

There are no likely benefits anticipated from participation in this study; however, there is potential benefit to others because of the knowledge that may be gained from this research.

12 Data and Safety Monitoring Plan

12.1 Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB)

The study will have a Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB). The DSMB will have a charter, will approve the protocol prior to implementation, and will review interim analyses as applicable. The purpose of the DSMB is to advise the sponsors and Principal Investigator(s) regarding the continuing safety of study subjects and the continuing validity and scientific merit of the study. The DSMB is responsible for monitoring accrual of study subjects, adherence to the study protocol, assessments of data quality, performance of individual site, review of serious adverse events and other subject safety issues. There will be no formal stopping rules for efficacy or futility.

12.2 Safety Reporting

Hospital readmissions and medical errors are outcomes being collected for this study. These data constitute safety events and will provide an adequate method of assuring subject safety in the study. Safety events will be reported to the DSMB at regular meetings in a standard fashion and will be reviewed regularly at the DCC.

12.2.1 Definition of Medical Errors

Medical Errors Medical errors will be collected as described in the outcomes section above. Examples of medical errors captured within this outcome include parent-reported medication problems, miscommunications, diagnostic mistakes, delays in care, complications of care, and equipment problems. Medical errors will be categorized into levels of harm using the National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention Index for Categorizing Medication Errors Algorithm.⁷² This algorithm categorizes harms on a continuum from A–I, with the extremes being the absence of a true error (harm level A) and an error that resulted in patient death (harm level I). Harm levels F (initial or prolonged hospitalization required), G (life-sustaining intervention required but harm was not permanent), H (life-sustaining intervention required and harm was permanent), and I (death resulted) meet the definition of serious adverse events outlined below and will be reported as described below.

12.2.2 Definition of a Serious Adverse Event (SAE)

Serious Adverse Event (SAE): A serious adverse event (SAE) for this population is an error or event that:

- results in death; or
- is life-threatening (the patient was, in the view of the site investigator, in immediate danger of death from the event as it occurred); or
- prolongs an existing hospitalization; or
- results in persistent or significant disability or incapacity; or
- results in congenital anomaly/birth defect; or
- any other event that, based upon appropriate medical judgment, may jeopardize the subject's health and may require medical or surgical intervention to prevent one of the other outcomes listed in this definition.

Hospital readmission will already be captured as the primary outcome so these will not be reported as SAEs unless the PI determines this is necessary. SAEs will be captured between randomization and 14 days after hospital discharge.

12.2.3 Classification of an SAE (Relatedness, Severity, and Expectedness)

Relatedness: The suspected relationship between study interventions and any SAE will be determined by the site investigator using the criteria below. *Relatedness must be assessed by an investigator and may not be assessed by a research coordinator.*

Not Related: The event is clearly related to other factors, such as the subject's clinical state, therapeutic interventions, or concomitant drugs administered to the subject.

Possibly Related: The event follows compatible temporal sequence from the time of beginning the assigned study intervention, but could have been produced by other factors such as the subject's clinical state, therapeutic interventions, or concomitant drugs administered to the subject.

Probably Related: The event follows a reasonable temporal sequence from the time of beginning the assigned study intervention, and *cannot be reasonably explained* by other factors such as the subject's clinical state, therapeutic interventions, or concomitant drugs administered to the subject.

Severity: The severity, which is a measure of intensity, of clinical SAEs and laboratory abnormalities will be recorded by the site investigator and categorized. The following guidelines will be used to describe severity.

Mild: The event requires minimal or no treatment and does not interfere with the participant's daily activities.

Moderate: The event results in a low level of inconvenience or concern with the therapeutic measures. Moderate events may cause some interference with functioning.

Severe: The event interrupts a participant's usual daily activity and may require systemic drug therapy or other treatment. Severe events are usually potentially life-threatening or incapacitating. Of note, the term "severe" does not necessarily equate to "serious".

Expectedness of the Event: SAEs will be evaluated as to whether their occurrence was expected or unexpected. An SAE will be considered unexpected if the nature, severity, or frequency of the event is not consistent with the risk information described for the study intervention.

Expected: An event is considered expected if it is known to be associated with the underlying condition or is related to the study intervention and is mentioned in the protocol, informed consent, or other study documents. An event may be expected despite the study subject's clinical state immediately prior to the event. Any symptom related to the primary diagnosis for which the participant was initially hospitalized is expected. For example, symptoms that would be expected for all of the FAAN-C conditions are fevers, vomiting, and diarrhea. Expected symptoms for pneumonia are complaints like cough, shortness of breath, and trouble breathing. Expected symptoms for urinary tract infection are complaints like abdominal pain and dysuria. Expected symptoms for skin and soft tissue infections are complaints like pain, swelling, and redness at the site of infection. Expected symptoms for gastroenteritis are complaints like diarrhea.

Unexpected: An event is considered unexpected if there are no prior data linking this event with either the condition or intervention under study or an event that occurred unexpectedly in the course of treatment.

Treatment or Action Taken: For each SAE, the site investigator will record whether an intervention was required:

- Medical or surgical procedure
- Concomitant medication: started, changed, or discontinued
- Other, specify
- No action taken

Outcome of Event: Finally, the site investigator will record the clinical outcome of each SAE as follows:

- Death
- Recovered and the patient returned to baseline status
- Recovered with permanent sequelae
- Symptoms persist

12.2.4 Data Collection Procedures for SAE

After patient randomization all SAEs will be recorded according to relatedness, severity, and expectedness, as well as their duration and any treatment prescribed. Any medical condition present at the time of randomization, recorded in the patient's baseline history at study entry, which remains unchanged or improves (unless the clinician feels it is clinically relevant), will not be recorded as an SAE at subsequent evaluations. However, worsening of a medical condition that was present at the time of randomization will be considered a new SAE, if it otherwise meets the SAE definition, and reported.

SAEs will be coded using the MedDRA coding vocabulary. Coding will be done centrally at the Data Coordinating Center as this requires specific training.

12.2.5 Unanticipated Problems (UP)

Unanticipated problems (UP) are defined as incidents, experiences, or outcomes that are unexpected, related or possibly to participation in the study, and suggest that the research places subjects at a greater risk of harm than was previously known or recognized. The site investigator will report unanticipated problems to the Data Coordinating Center within 24 hours of becoming aware of the event. A detailed completed report will be required to be sent to the Data Coordinating Center within 3 working days of the event. After receipt of the complete report, the Data Coordinating Center will notify PCORI promptly, but no later than 10 days after:

- reporting any serious unanticipated problems (e.g., serious adverse event, serious safety issue, or other serious problem) relating the to the research study to the sponsor, DSMB, IRB, the FDA, or other regulatory or oversight body; and
- Any decision, finding, recommendation, action, or direction of a DSMB, IRB, the FDA, or any other regulatory or oversight body relating to any serious unanticipated problems (e.g., serious adverse event, serious safety issue, or other serious problem).

In accordance with local IRB requirements, the site investigator may be required to report such unanticipated problems to the IRB in addition to notifying the Data Coordinating Center. In the event that the medical monitor believes that such an event warrants emergent suspension of enrollment in the trial, the Data Coordinating Center will notify the study investigator (Dr. Coon) and all site investigators to cease enrollment in the trial.

12.2.6 Monitoring Serious Adverse Events

A qualified physician will be designated to fulfill the function of the medical monitor for this study. Site investigators and/or research coordinators will report serious adverse events to the Data Coordinating Center within 24 hours of becoming aware of the event. A detailed completed report will be required to be sent to the Data Coordinating Center within 3 working days of the event, and the medical monitor will assess all serious adverse events reported from site investigators.

For each of these serious adverse events, the site investigator will provide sufficient medical history and clinical details for a safety assessment to be made with regard to continuation of the trial. The medical monitor will sign off on each SAE report after review. All SAE reports will be retained at the Data Coordinating Center, and all SAE reports will be available for review by DSMB members and PCORI staff. The SAE reporting process may be incorporated into the Electronic Data Capture System in use for the study.

In the unlikely event that the medical monitor believes an unexpected and study-related SAE warrants emergent cessation of enrollment in the trial, the DSMB chairperson will be immediately consulted. If the DSMB chairperson concurs with the judgment of the medical monitor, or if the DSMB chairperson cannot be reached expeditiously, the Data Coordinating Center will notify the study investigator (Dr. Coon) and all site investigators to cease enrollment in the trial.

In accordance with local IRB requirements, the site investigator may be required to report such events to the IRB in addition to notifying the Data Coordinating Center.

After notification of the PCORI Program Official or Project Officer, and the DSMB chairperson, of *serious, unexpected, and study-related* adverse events or unanticipated problems (UP), decisions will be made whether to continue the study without change, and whether to convene the entire DSMB for an emergent meeting. If a decision is made to suspend enrollment in the trial, this will be reported to the study investigator (Dr. Coon) and all clinical investigators, who will be instructed to report this to their local IRB.

The DSMB will review medical errors and serious adverse events during scheduled DSMB meetings. The Data Coordinating Center will prepare a Summary Report of medical errors and serious adverse events.

12.2.7 Follow-up of Serious Adverse Events

All SAEs will be followed by the study team until the events are resolved, subject is lost to follow-up, the SAE is otherwise explained or has stabilized, or 14 days have passed from the time of hospital discharge.

13 Study Training

13.1 Study Training

A formal training program for investigators and research staff will be held prior to the start of enrollment. The training program will cover regulatory topics and Good Clinical Practice. The training will also provide in depth explanations regarding study procedures, clinical care, adverse event reporting, data entry procedures, quality assurance, site monitoring, and the informed consent process. A manual of operations will be provided to each investigator prior to the start of enrollment.

The manual will detail specific information about the study procedures, regulatory information, safety reporting, and other necessary information. Updates and revisions to the manual will be made available electronically. The Data Coordinating Center, in collaboration with the study investigator (Dr. Coon), will be the main contact for study questions.

14 Regulatory Considerations

14.1 Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act

Data elements collected include the date of birth, date of admission, date of discharge, date of medical visits, phone numbers, and email addresses. Prior to statistical analyses, dates will be used to calculate patient age at the time of the study events. The final data sets (used for study analyses and archived at the end of the study) will be de-identified, and will exclude these specific dates.

Data elements for race, ethnicity, and gender are also being collected. These demographic data are required for Federal reporting purposes to delineate subject accrual by race, ethnicity, and gender.

For purposes of the Data Coordinating Center handling potential protected health information and producing the de-identified research data sets that will be used for analyses, all study sites have been offered a Business Associate Agreement with the University of Utah. Copies of executed Business Associate Agreements are maintained at the Data Coordinating Center.

14.2 Inclusion of Women and Minorities

There will be no exclusion of patients based on gender, race, or ethnicity.

14.3 Clinical Trials.gov Requirements

This trial will be registered at ClinicalTrials.gov in accordance with Federal regulations.

14.4 Retention of Records

For federally funded studies subject to the Common Rule, records relating to the research conducted shall be retained for at least 3 years after completion of the research. Completion of the research for this protocol should be anticipated to include planned primary and secondary analyses, as well as subsequent derivative analyses. Completion of the research also entails completion of all publications relating to the research. All records shall be accessible for inspection and copying by authorized representatives of the regulatory authorities at reasonable times and in a reasonable manner [45 CFR §46.115(b)].

14.5 Public Use Data Set

After subject enrollment and follow-up have been completed, the Data Coordinating Center will prepare a final study database for analysis. A releasable database will be produced and completely de-identified in accordance with the definitions provided in the Health insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). Namely, all identifiers specified in HIPAA will be recoded in a manner that will make it impossible to deduce or impute the specific identity of any patient. The database will not contain any institutional identifiers.

The Data Coordinating Center will also prepare a data dictionary that provides a concise definition of every data element included in the database. If specific data elements have idiosyncrasies that might affect interpretation or analysis, this will be discussed in the dictionary document. In accordance with policies determined by the investigators and funding sponsors, the releasable database will be provided to users in electronic form.

15 Bibliography

- [1] Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Medical Expenditure Panel Survey. Technical report, https://www.meps.ahrq.gov/mepsweb/, Accessed January 8, 2021.
- [2] Alan R. Schroeder, Lauren A. Destino, Rona Brooks, C. Jason Wang, and Eric R. Coon. Outcomes of follow-up visits after bronchiolitis hospitalizations. *JAMA pediatrics*, 172:296–297, March 2018.
- [3] Robert Chang, David Spahlinger, and Christopher S. Kim. Re-engineering the post-discharge appointment process for general medicine patients. *The patient*, 5:27–32, 2012.
- [4] Richard B. Balaban, Joel S. Weissman, Peter A. Samuel, and Stephanie Woolhandler. Redefining and redesigning hospital discharge to enhance patient care: a randomized controlled study. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 23:1228–1233, August 2008.
- [5] Brian W. Jack, Veerappa K. Chetty, David Anthony, Jeffrey L. Greenwald, Gail M. Sanchez, Anna E. Johnson, Shaula R. Forsythe, Julie K. O'Donnell, Michael K. Paasche-Orlow, Christopher Manasseh, Stephen Martin, and Larry Culpepper. A reengineered hospital discharge program to decrease rehospitalization: a randomized trial. *Annals of internal medicine*, 150:178–187, February 2009.
- [6] Kevin Blaine, John Wright, Amy Pinkham, Margaret O'Neill, Sarah Wilkerson, Jayne Rogers, Sarah McBride, Charis Crofton, Sarah Grodsky, David Hall, Sangeeta Mauskar, Vinita Akula, Alisa Khan, Alexandra Mercer, and Jay G. Berry. Medication order errors at hospital admission among children with medical complexity. *Journal of patient safety*, 18:e156–e162, January 2022.

- [7] James A. Feinstein, Chris Feudtner, and Allison Kempe. Adverse drug event-related emergency department visits associated with complex chronic conditions. *Pediatrics*, 133:e1575–e1585, June 2014.
- [8] Peter Dunbar, Matt Hall, James C. Gay, Clarissa Hoover, Jessica L. Markham, Jessica L. Bettenhausen, James M. Perrin, Karen A. Kuhlthau, Morgan Crossman, Brigid Garrity, and Jay G. Berry. Hospital readmission of adolescents and young adults with complex chronic disease. *JAMA network open*, 2:e197613, July 2019.
- [9] Chris Feudtner, James E. Levin, Rajendu Srivastava, Denise M. Goodman, Anthony D. Slonim, Vidya Sharma, Samir S. Shah, Susmita Pati, Crayton Fargason, and Matt Hall. How well can hospital readmission be predicted in a cohort of hospitalized children? a retrospective, multicenter study. *Pediatrics*, 123:286–293, January 2009.
- [10] Jessica L. Markham, Matt Hall, James C. Gay, Jessica L. Bettenhausen, and Jay G. Berry. Length of stay and cost of pediatric readmissions. *Pediatrics*, 141, April 2018.
- [11] Jay G. Berry, Sara L. Toomey, Alan M. Zaslavsky, Ashish K. Jha, Mari M. Nakamura, David J. Klein, Jeremy Y. Feng, Shanna Shulman, Vincent W. Chiang, Vincent K. Chiang, William Kaplan, Matt Hall, and Mark A. Schuster. Pediatric readmission prevalence and variability across hospitals. *JAMA*, 309:372–380, January 2013.
- [12] Lora Bergert, Shilpa J. Patel, Chieko Kimata, Guangxiang Zhang, and Wallace J. Matthews. Linking patient-centered medical home and asthma measures reduces hospital readmission rates. *Pediatrics*, 134:e249–e256, July 2014.
- [13] R. S. Broyles, J. E. Tyson, E. T. Heyne, R. J. Heyne, J. F. Hickman, M. Swint, S. S. Adams, L. A. West, N. Pomeroy, P. J. Hicks, and C. Ahn. Comprehensive follow-up care and life-threatening illnesses among high-risk infants: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 284:2070–2076, October 2000.
- [14] Betty Vohr, Elisabeth McGowan, Lenore Keszler, Barbara Alksninis, Melissa O'Donnell, Katheleen Hawes, and Richard Tucker. Impact of a transition home program on rehospitalization rates of preterm infants. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 181:86–92.e1, February 2017.
- [15] Brian Kogon, Kim Woodall, Kirk Kanter, Bahaaldin Alsoufi, and Matt Oster. Reducing readmissions following paediatric cardiothoracic surgery: a quality improvement initiative. *Cardiology in the young*, 25:935–940, June 2015.
- [16] Ron Keren, Xianqun Luan, Russell Localio, Matt Hall, Lisa McLeod, Dingwei Dai, Rajendu Srivastava, and Pediatric Research in Inpatient Settings (PRIS) Network. Prioritization of comparative effectiveness research topics in hospital pediatrics. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine*, 166:1155–1164, December 2012.
- [17] JoAnna K. Leyenaar, Shawn L. Ralston, Meng-Shiou Shieh, Penelope S. Pekow, Rita Mangione-Smith, and Peter K. Lindenauer. Epidemiology of pediatric hospitalizations at general hospitals and freestanding children's hospitals in the united states. *Journal of hospital medicine*, 11:743–749, November 2016.

- [18] Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. HCUPnet: Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project. Technical report, http://hcupnet.ahrq.gov/, Accessed February 15, 2020.
- [19] Institute of Medicine Committee on Quality of Health Care in A. Crossing the quality chasm: A new health system for the 21st century. Technical report, National Academies Press (US), 2001.
- [20] Dawn Stacey, France Légaré, Krystina Lewis, Michael J. Barry, Carol L. Bennett, Karen B. Eden, Margaret Holmes-Rovner, Hilary Llewellyn-Thomas, Anne Lyddiatt, Richard Thomson, and Lyndal Trevena. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 4:CD001431, April 2017.
- [21] E. A. G. Joosten, L. DeFuentes-Merillas, G. H. de Weert, T. Sensky, C. P. F. van der Staak, and C. A. J. de Jong. Systematic review of the effects of shared decision-making on patient satisfaction, treatment adherence and health status. *Psychotherapy and psychosomatics*, 77:219–226, 2008.
- [22] Thomas Bodenheimer, Kate Lorig, Halsted Holman, and Kevin Grumbach. Patient self-management of chronic disease in primary care. *JAMA*, 288:2469–2475, November 2002.
- [23] Eric R. Coon, Lauren A. Destino, Tom H. Greene, Elizabeth Vukin, Greg Stoddard, and Alan R. Schroeder. Comparison of as-needed and scheduled posthospitalization follow-up for children hospitalized for bronchiolitis: The bronchiolitis follow-up intervention trial (benefit) randomized clinical trial. *JAMA pediatrics*, 174:e201937, September 2020.
- [24] A. S. Zigmond and R. P. Snaith. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 67:361–370, June 1983.
- [25] Dawn Wiest, Qiang Yang, Carter Wilson, and Natasha Dravid. Outcomes of a citywide campaign to reduce medicaid hospital readmissions with connection to primary care within 7 days of hospital discharge. *JAMA network open*, 2:e187369, January 2019.
- [26] Ernest Shen, Sandra Y. Koyama, Dan N. Huynh, Heather L. Watson, Brian Mittman, Michael H. Kanter, and Huong Q. Nguyen. Association of a dedicated post-hospital discharge follow-up visit and 30-day readmission risk in a medicare advantage population. *JAMA internal medicine*, 177:132–135, January 2017.
- [27] Lauren Doctoroff, Diane McNally, Anita Vanka, Ryan Nall, and Kenneth J. Mukamal. Inpatient-outpatient transitions for patients with resident primary care physicians: access and readmission. *The American journal of medicine*, 127:886.e15–886.e20, September 2014.
- [28] Adrian F. Hernandez, Melissa A. Greiner, Gregg C. Fonarow, Bradley G. Hammill, Paul A. Heidenreich, Clyde W. Yancy, Eric D. Peterson, and Lesley H. Curtis. Relationship between early physician follow-up and 30-day readmission among medicare beneficiaries hospitalized for heart failure. *JAMA*, 303:1716–1722, May 2010.
- [29] Gregory J. Misky, Heidi L. Wald, and Eric A. Coleman. Post-hospitalization transitions: Examining the effects of timing of primary care provider follow-up. *Journal of hospital medicine*, 5:392–397, September 2010.

- [30] Gulshan Sharma, Yong-Fang Kuo, Jean L. Freeman, Dong D. Zhang, and James S. Goodwin. Outpatient follow-up visit and 30-day emergency department visit and readmission in patients hospitalized for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Archives of internal medicine*, 170:1664–1670, October 2010.
- [31] Felippe O. Marcondes, Paawan Punjabi, Lauren Doctoroff, Anjala Tess, Sarah O'Neill, Timothy Layton, Kramer Quist, and Ateev Mehrotra. Does scheduling a postdischarge visit with a primary care physician increase rates of follow-up and decrease readmissions? *Journal of hospital medicine*, 14:E37–E42, September 2019.
- [32] Carrie A. Grafft, Furman S. McDonald, Kari L. Ruud, Juliette T. Liesinger, Matthew G. Johnson, and James M. Naessens. Effect of hospital follow-up appointment on clinical event outcomes and mortality. *Archives of internal medicine*, 170:955–960, June 2010.
- [33] Luke O. Hansen, Robert S. Young, Keiki Hinami, Alicia Leung, and Mark V. Williams. Interventions to reduce 30-day rehospitalization: a systematic review. *Annals of internal medicine*, 155:520–528, October 2011.
- [34] Terry S. Field, Jessica Ogarek, Lawrence Garber, George Reed, and Jerry H. Gurwitz. Association of early post-discharge follow-up by a primary care physician and 30-day rehospitalization among older adults. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 30:565–571, May 2015.
- [35] Ryan J. Coller, Thomas S. Klitzner, Adrianna A. Saenz, Carlos F. Lerner, Lauren G. Alderette, Bergen B. Nelson, and Paul J. Chung. Discharge handoff communication and pediatric readmissions. *Journal of hospital medicine*, 12:29–35, January 2017.
- [36] Mark S. Brittan, Marion R. Sills, David Fox, Elizabeth J. Campagna, Doron Shmueli, James A. Feinstein, and Allison Kempe. Outpatient follow-up visits and readmission in medically complex children enrolled in medicaid. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 166:998–1005.e1, April 2015.
- [37] Heather C. O'Donnell, Gregory Colman, Rebecca A. Trachtman, Nerissa Velazco, and Andrew D. Racine. Impact of newborn follow-up visit timing on subsequent ed visits and hospital readmissions: an instrumental variable analysis. *Academic pediatrics*, 14:84–91, 2014.
- [38] Katherine A. Auger, Chén C. Kenyon, Chris Feudtner, and Matthew M. Davis. Pediatric hospital discharge interventions to reduce subsequent utilization: a systematic review. *Journal of hospital medicine*, 9:251–260, April 2014.
- [39] Katherine A. Auger, Tamara D. Simon, David Cooperberg, James Gay, Dennis Z. Kuo, Michele Saysana, Christopher J. Stille, Erin Stucky Fisher, Sowdhamini Wallace, Jay Berry, Daniel Coghlin, Vishu Jhaveri, Steven Kairys, Tina Logsdon, Ulfat Shaikh, Rajendu Srivastava, Amy J. Starmer, Victoria Wilkins, and Mark W. Shen. Summary of starnet: Seamless transitions and (re)admissions network. *Pediatrics*, 135:164–175, January 2015.
- [40] Rita Mangione-Smith, Carol P. Roth, Maria T. Britto, Alex Y. Chen, Julie McGalliard, Thomas F. Boat, John L. Adams, and Elizabeth A. McGlynn. Development and testing of the pediatric respiratory illness measurement system (primes) quality indicators. *Hospital pediatrics*, 7:125–133, March 2017.

- [41] Shaikh U Fisher ES, Rosenbluth G. Pedi-boost peds effective discharge: Better handoff to home through safer transitions implementation guide. Technical report, https://www.hospitalmedicine.org/globalassets/clinical-topics/clinical-pdf/shm_pediatric_boost_implementation_guide.pdf, Accessed August 1, 2021.
- [42] Layla Parast, Q. Burkhart, Arti D. Desai, Tamara D. Simon, Carolyn Allshouse, Maria T. Britto, JoAnna K. Leyenaar, Courtney A. Gidengil, Sara L. Toomey, Marc N. Elliott, Eric C. Schneider, and Rita Mangione-Smith. Validation of new quality measures for transitions between sites of care. *Pediatrics*, 139, May 2017.
- [43] Arti D. Desai, Chuan Zhou, Tamara D. Simon, Rita Mangione-Smith, and Maria T. Britto. Validation of a parent-reported hospital-to-home transition experience measure. *Pediatrics*, 145, February 2020.
- [44] Douglas K. Owens, Amir Qaseem, Roger Chou, Paul Shekelle, and Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians. High-value, cost-conscious health care: concepts for clinicians to evaluate the benefits, harms, and costs of medical interventions. *Annals of internal medicine*, 154:174–180, February 2011.
- [45] Donald M. Berwick, Thomas W. Nolan, and John Whittington. The triple aim: care, health, and cost. *Health affairs (Project Hope)*, 27:759–769, 2008.
- [46] Kristin N. Ray, Amalavoyal V. Chari, John Engberg, Marnie Bertolet, and Ateev Mehrotra. Opportunity costs of ambulatory medical care in the united states. *The American journal of managed care*, 21:567–574, August 2015.
- [47] Kristin N. Ray, Amalavoyal V. Chari, John Engberg, Marnie Bertolet, and Ateev Mehrotra. Disparities in time spent seeking medical care in the united states. *JAMA internal medicine*, 175:1983–1986, December 2015.
- [48] Alison A. Galbraith, Sabrina T. Wong, Sue E. Kim, and Paul W. Newacheck. Out-of-pocket financial burden for low-income families with children: socioeconomic disparities and effects of insurance. *Health services research*, 40:1722–1736, December 2005.
- [49] Lenisa V. Chang, Anita N. Shah, Erik R. Hoefgen, Katherine A. Auger, Huibin Weng, Jeffrey M. Simmons, Samir S. Shah, Andrew F. Beck, and H2O. Study Group. Lost earnings and nonmedical expenses of pediatric hospitalizations. *Pediatrics*, 142, September 2018.
- [50] J. W. Mold and H. F. Stein. The cascade effect in the clinical care of patients. *The New England journal of medicine*, 314:512–514, February 1986.
- [51] Michael B. Rothberg. The \$50,000 physical. *JAMA*, 323:1682–1683, May 2020.
- [52] Ishani Ganguli, Arabella L. Simpkin, Claire Lupo, Arlene Weissman, Alexander J. Mainor, E. John Orav, Meredith B. Rosenthal, Carrie H. Colla, and Thomas D. Sequist. Cascades of care after incidental findings in a us national survey of physicians. *JAMA network open*, 2:e1913325, October 2019.

- [53] Deborah Grady and Rita F. Redberg. Less is more: how less health care can result in better health. *Archives of internal medicine*, 170:749–750, May 2010.
- [54] Katherine A. Auger, Jeffrey M. Simmons, Heather L. Tubbs-Cooley, Heidi J. Sucharew, Angela M. Statile, Rita H. Pickler, Hadley S. Sauers-Ford, Jennifer M. Gold, Jane C. Khoury, Andrew F. Beck, Susan Wade-Murphy, Pierce Kuhnell, Samir S. Shah, and H2O. Trial study group. Postdischarge nurse home visits and reuse: The hospital to home outcomes (h2o) trial. *Pediatrics*, 142, July 2018.
- [55] Katherine A. Auger, Samir S. Shah, Heather L. Tubbs-Cooley, Heidi J. Sucharew, Jennifer M. Gold, Susan Wade-Murphy, Angela M. Statile, Kathleen D. Bell, Jane C. Khoury, Colleen Mangeot, Jeffrey M. Simmons, and Hospital-to-Home Outcomes Trial Study Group. Effects of a 1-time nurse-led telephone call after pediatric discharge: The h2o ii randomized clinical trial. *JAMA pediatrics*, 172:e181482, September 2018.
- [56] Keith Colaco, Andrew Willan, Jennifer Stimec, Lorena Barra, Adrienne Davis, Andrew Howard, and Kathy Boutis. Home management versus primary care physician follow-up of patients with distal radius buckle fractures: A randomized controlled trial. *Annals of emergency medicine*, 77:163–173, February 2021.
- [57] Shawn L. Ralston, Allan S. Lieberthal, H. Cody Meissner, Brian K. Alverson, Jill E. Baley, Anne M. Gadomski, David W. Johnson, Michael J. Light, Nizar F. Maraqa, Eneida A. Mendonca, Kieran J. Phelan, Joseph J. Zorc, Danette Stanko-Lopp, Mark A. Brown, Ian Nathanson, Elizabeth Rosenblum, Stephen Sayles, Sinsi Hernandez-Cancio, and American Academy of Pediatrics. Clinical practice guideline: the diagnosis, management, and prevention of bronchiolitis. *Pediatrics*, 134:e1474–e1502, November 2014.
- [58] National institutes of health. healthmeasures, Accessed February 7, 2022.
- [59] Alisa Khan, Maitreya Coffey, Katherine P. Litterer, Jennifer D. Baird, Stephannie L. Furtak, Briana M. Garcia, Michele A. Ashland, Sharon Calaman, Nicholas C. Kuzma, Jennifer K. O'Toole, Aarti Patel, Glenn Rosenbluth, Lauren A. Destino, Jennifer L. Everhart, Brian P. Good, Jennifer H. Hepps, Anuj K. Dalal, Stuart R. Lipsitz, Catherine S. Yoon, Katherine R. Zigmont, Rajendu Srivastava, Amy J. Starmer, Theodore C. Sectish, Nancy D. Spector, Daniel C. West, Christopher P. Landrigan, the Patient, Family Centered I.-P.A.S.S. Study Group, Brenda K. Allair, Claire Alminde, Wilma Alvarado-Little, Marisa Atsatt, Megan E. Aylor, James F. Bale, Dorene Balmer, Kevin T. Barton, Carolyn Beck, Zia Bismilla, Rebecca L. Blankenburg, Debra Chandler, Amanda Choudhary, Eileen Christensen, Sally Coghlan-McDonald, F. Sessions Cole, Elizabeth Corless, Sharon Cray, Roxi Da Silva, Devesh Dahale, Benard Dreyer, Amanda S. Growdon, LeAnn Gubler, Amy Guiot, Roben Harris, Helen Haskell, Irene Kocolas, Elizabeth Kruvand, Michele Marie Lane, Kathleen Langrish, Christy J. W. Ledford, Kheyandra Lewis, Joseph O. Lopreiato, Christopher G. Maloney, Amanda Mangan, Peggy Markle, Fernando Mendoza, Dale Ann Micalizzi, Vineeta Mittal, Maria Obermeyer, Katherine A. O'Donnell, Mary Ottolini, Shilpa J. Patel, Rita Pickler, Jayne Elizabeth Rogers, Lee M. Sanders, Kimberly Sauder, Samir S. Shah, Meesha Sharma, Arabella Simpkin, Anupama Subramony, E. Douglas Thompson, Laura Trueman, Tanner Trujillo, Michael P. Turmelle, Cindy Warnick, Chelsea Welch, Andrew J. White, Matthew F. Wien, Ariel S. Winn, Stephanie Wintch, Michael Wolf,

- H. Shonna Yin, and Clifton E. Yu. Families as partners in hospital error and adverse event surveillance. *JAMA pediatrics*, 171:372–381, April 2017.
- [60] Eric Coon and Susan L. Bratton. Trends in pediatric head ct use: Looking beyond the ivory tower. *Pediatrics*, 142, October 2018.
- [61] Misty Good, Steven J. McElroy, Jennifer N. Berger, and James L. Wynn. Name and characteristics of national institutes of health r01-funded pediatric physician-scientists: Hope and challenges for the vanishing pediatric physician-scientists. *JAMA pediatrics*, 172:297–299, March 2018.
- [62] Laura Mauri and Ralph B. D'Agostino. Challenges in the design and interpretation of noninferiority trials. *The New England journal of medicine*, 377:1357–1367, October 2017.
- [63] Chris Feudtner, James A. Feinstein, Wenjun Zhong, Matt Hall, and Dingwei Dai. Pediatric complex chronic conditions classification system version 2: updated for icd-10 and complex medical technology dependence and transplantation. *BMC pediatrics*, 14:199, August 2014.
- [64] Sandeep K. Gupta. Intention-to-treat concept: A review. *Perspectives in clinical research*, 2:109–112, July 2011.
- [65] Neuhaus-J. M McCulloch, C. E. *Generalized linear mixed models*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, 2005.
- [66] Annette J Dobson. An introduction to generalized linear models. Technical report, CRC press, 2001.
- [67] Thomas R. Fleming. Current issues in non-inferiority trials. *Statistics in medicine*, 27:317–332, February 2008.
- [68] Yutaka Matsuyama. A comparison of the results of intent-to-treat, per-protocol, and gestimation in the presence of non-random treatment changes in a time-to-event non-inferiority trial. *Statistics in medicine*, 29:2107–2116, September 2010.
- [69] Rubin DB Angrist JD, Imbens GW. Identification of causal effects using instrumental variables. *Journal of the American statistical Association*, 91(434):444–455, 1996.
- [70] Ian R. White, Patrick Royston, and Angela M. Wood. Multiple imputation using chained equations: Issues and guidance for practice. *Statistics in medicine*, 30:377–399, February 2011.
- [71] Jeffrey L. Saver and Roger J. Lewis. Number needed to treat: Conveying the likelihood of a therapeutic effect. *JAMA*, 321:798–799, February 2019.
- [72] National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention (NCC MERP). Ncc merp index for categorizing medication errors, http://www.nccmerp.org/sites/default/files/algorColor2001-06-12.pdf.